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MEMORANDUM AND ORDER 
(Denying Motion for Stay and to Reply to Licensing Board Decision 

and Referring Pleading to the Commission) 

In a January 23, 2020 memorandum and order, this Licensing Board denied the request 

of pro se petitioners Eric J. Epstein and Three Mile Island Alert, Inc., (Petitioners) seeking a 

hearing to challenge a July 1, 2019 license amendment request by Exelon Generation 

Company, LLC, (Exelon) to amend the 10 C.F.R. Part 50 operating license for Three Mile Island 

Nuclear Station, Unit 1.  See LBP-20-02, 91 NRC __, __ (slip op. at 29) (Jan. 23, 2020).  In that 

ruling, we indicated that pursuant to 10 C.F.R. § 2.311 any appeal from that decision could be 

taken within 25 days after that issuance was served, see id., which under the provisions of 

10 C.F.R. § 2.306(a) would have required that any appeal be lodged with the Commission on or 

before February 18, 2020.  On February 16, 2020, however, Petitioners filed a pleading directed 

to this Board entitled “Motion To Stay Memorandum and Reply to Proposed Order Denying 
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Intervention and Petition.”  See Motion To Stay Memorandum and Reply to Proposed Order 

Denying Intervention and Petition (Feb. 16, 2020) at 1 [hereinafter Petitioners Motion].1 

Like the heading on this filing, the content of Petitioners’ submission creates some 

uncertainty about that pleading’s procedural posture.  Nonetheless, when considered in the 

context of the Board’s January 23, 2020 determination denying their hearing petition, 

Petitioners’ pleading appears to encompass one or more of three possible requests for relief.2  

First, as the initial portion of the pleading’s heading suggests, the filing may be a request 

for a stay of the Board’s ruling dismissing the hearing petition.  See id.  While the agency’s rules 

of practice indicate that a request for a stay of a licensing board decision can be filed with either 

the board or the Commission, they also declare that such a request must be submitted within 

10 days of service of the contested issuance, which in this case would have been by 

February 3, 2020.  See 10 C.F.R. § 2.342(a).  Being almost two weeks out of time without any 

showing of good cause for its lateness, see id. § 2.307(a), Petitioners’ stay motion must be 

denied.3     

1 Although the date in the caption of Petitioners’ pleading indicates the filing was made 
on “February 18, 2020,” the date at the bottom of the pleading’s first and last pages is 
“February 16, 2020,” Petitioners Motion at 1, 23, which also corresponds with the date the filing 
was submitted using the agency’s E-Filing system.     

2 Applicant Exelon and the Nuclear Regulatory Commission Staff generally would be 
entitled to an opportunity to answer Petitioners’ pleading and provide their views on the nature 
of that filing.  See 10 C.F.R. § 2.323(c).  In light of the clear legal basis for our rulings on the 
pleading’s efficacy before the Board, as outlined below, and the lack of any prejudice to Exelon 
and/or the Staff from those rulings, in this instance no useful purpose would be served by 
awaiting additional filings from these participants. 

3 Petitioners’ motion also warrants dismissal as lacking a statement reflecting the 
outcome of consultation with the other participants to the proceeding and, as their filing may 
constitute a stay request, for failing to address the standards governing the issuance of a stay.  
See id. §§ 2.323(b), 2.342(b), (e).   
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 A second possibility arises from the indication in the pleading’s heading that it is a “reply” 

to the Licensing Board’s January 23, 2020 determination.4  Petitioners Motion at 1.  While the 

agency’s rules of practice do not sanction such a reply pleading per se, they do permit a motion 

seeking reconsideration of a licensing board decision.5  See 10 C.F.R. § 2.323(e).  As the rule 

governing such a motion makes clear, however, a reconsideration request likewise must be 

submitted within 10 days.  See id.  But once again having failed to meet the applicable deadline 

without a showing of good cause, see id. § 2.307(a), Petitioners’ reply/reconsideration request 

must be denied.6   

 Finally, the Petitioners’ pleading contains an extensive discussion about why they have 

standing to intervene and why the two contentions they proffered are admissible.  See 

Petitioners Motion at 11‒22.  Standing and contention admissibility deficiencies were the bases 

for the Board’s determination that their hearing petition could not be granted.  See LBP-20-02, 

91 NRC at __ ‒__ (slip op. at 14‒29).  It thus is possible that this filing constitutes their appeal 

from the Licensing Board’s January 23, 2020 ruling denying their hearing petition.  If that is the 

case, however, that appeal has been directed to the wrong presiding officer.  Accordingly, to 

 

                                                 
4 Although the pleading’s heading refers to the Board’s January 23, 2020 decision as a 

“Proposed Order Denying Intervention and Petition,” Petitioners Motion at 1, it is apparent that 
our ruling denying their hearing request and terminating the proceeding before the Board was, 
in fact, a final, fully effective order, see LBP-20-02, 91 NRC at __, __ (slip op. at 2, 29). 
   

5 The agency’s rules of practice also provide for a motion to reopen the closed record of 
a proceeding to consider additional evidence, see 10 C.F.R. § 2.326(a), which is clearly 
inapplicable here since no evidentiary record was created in this proceeding.   

  
6 Denial of this request also is appropriate because Petitioners have failed to provide the 

showing of "compelling circumstances, such as the existence of a clear and material error in a 
decision, which could not have reasonably been anticipated, that renders the decision invalid” 
that is necessary to support a reconsideration motion.  Id. § 2.323(e).   
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avoid any confusion in that regard, we refer Petitioners’ February 16, 2020 pleading to the 

Commission for whatever further action it may deem appropriate.  

It is so ORDERED. 

FOR THE ATOMIC SAFETY 
   AND LICENSING BOARD 

______________________________
G. Paul Bollwerk, III, Chairman
ADMINISTRATIVE JUDGE

Rockville, Maryland 

February 19, 2020 

/RA/
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